

The evolution of animal genitalia: distinguishing between hypotheses by single species studies

GÖRAN ARNQVIST

Dept. of Animal Ecology, University of Umeå, S-901 87 Umeå, Sweden

Received 26 March 1996; accepted for publication 1 July 1996

Rapid evolution of genitalia is one of the most general patterns of morphological diversification in animals. Despite its generality, the causes of this evolutionary trend remain obscure. Several alternative hypotheses have been suggested to account for the evolution of genitalia (notably the lock-and-key, pleiotropism, and sexual selection hypotheses). Here, I argue that thorough intraspecific studies are the key to gaining insight into the patterns and processes of genitalic evolution. Critical assumptions and predictions that may be used to distinguish between the different hypotheses are identified and discussed. However, current knowledge of selection on genitalia, or even of the degree of phenotypic and genotypic variability of genital morphology, is highly limited, allowing only a very tentative assessment of the various hypotheses. In-depth single species studies of current patterns and processes of selection on genitalia are badly needed, and a single species research program is briefly outlined.

© 1997 The Linnean Society of London

ADDITIONAL KEY WORDS:—sexual selection – cryptic female choice – evolutionary radiation – phenotypic selection – intraspecific studies – genetic variation – reproductive isolation – reproduction.

CONTENTS

Introduction										365
The hypotheses										367
A single species research program .										368
Testable assumptions and predictions										371
The lock-and-key hypothesis .										371
The pleiotropism hypothesis .										372
The sexual selection hypothesis										372
Discussion										373
Sexual selection										374
Female choice and genitalia .										375
Acknowledgements										376
References										376

INTRODUCTION

One of the most striking and general patterns in the evolutionary radiation of animal taxa is morphological diversification of male genitalia. In animals with internal fertilization, male genitalic morphology typically differs considerably and

E-mail: Goran.Arnqvist@animecol.umu.se

consistently between species, even if general morphology differs very little. In his seminal contribution, Eberhard (1985) reviewed the pattern of genitalic elaboration and diversification across a wide range of animal taxa, and assessed the various hypotheses that have been put forth to account for this evolutionary phenomenon. However, as has been stressed by several authors (Scudder, 1971; Eberhard, 1985, 1990; Shapiro & Porter, 1989; Andersson, 1994; Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Alexander, Marshall & Cooley, 1996), there is a serious shortage of empirical studies dealing with genitalic evolution, and the basis for distinguishing between different hypotheses is currently very weak. In particular, relevant in depth single species studies are virtually lacking. Considering the generality and form of genitalic evolution relative to several other domains of morphological adaptation, our current ignorance of the processes responsible for genitalic evolution is truly perplexing.

The reasons for our lack of understanding of genitalic evolution are partly historic. Darwin (1871) distinguished between two types of sexually dimorphic traits; primary and secondary sexual traits. Traits being directly connected with the act of reproduction, largely gonads, ducts and copulatory organs, were considered primary sexual traits favoured by natural selection. Being copulatory organs, genitalia have been considered primary sexual traits and have, as such, been essentially disqualified from studies of sexual selection, which have almost exclusively been concerned with secondary sexual traits (Bradbury & Andersson, 1987; Andersson, 1994; Johnstone, 1995). However, there are very good reasons to question the validity of this distinction, and there are at least four reasons to abandon the dichotomy between primary and secondary sexual traits (see also Eberhard, 1985; Andersson, 1994). First, Darwin (1871) had already realized that it is often impossible to separate between primary and secondary sexual traits on the basis of function alone. For example, many non-genitalic male traits, which hardly qualify as primary sexual traits, are used as 'copulatory organs' (e.g. spider pedipalps and various male claspers). Second, many primary sexual traits function, at least in part, in competition over mates or fertilizations. Male genitalic traits may be involved in competition for mates or fertilizations (Waage, 1979, 1984; Siva-Jothy & Tsubaki, 1989; Birkhead & Hunter, 1990), and even glands, such as testes, may commonly be subjected to sexual selection by sperm competition among males (Warner & Robertson, 1978; Harcourt et al., 1981; Eberhard & Cordero, 1995). Third, new theories on the evolution of animal genitalia (Eberhard, 1985, 1990, 1993a; Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Alexander et al., 1996) suggest that primary sexual traits may become elaborated as a result of sexual selection, in much the same way as secondary sexual traits (Andersson, 1994). Fourth, many primary sexual traits evolve rapidly and are species specific, indicating important functional significance. In closely related *Drosophila* species, for example, not only male and female genital morphology, but also traits such as sperm morphology, ovary size, testis size, testis colour, seminal products and gonadal proteins, evolve rapidly and differ considerably between species (Mahowald & Kambysellis, 1980; Coyne, 1985; Jamieson, 1987; Joly et al., 1991; Pitnick & Markow, 1994; Eberhard & Cordero, 1995; Civetta & Singh, 1996). Thus, the distinction between primary and secondary sexual traits is not only gratuitous and ambiguous on the basis of function, but it may also be essentially flawed on the basis of evolutionary theory. Similar evolutionary mechanisms potentially affect both types of sexual traits: sexual selection may favour elaboration and natural selection may counteract this trend. Abandoning the dichotomy between primary and secondary sexual traits, and thus addressing the evolution of both types of traits in much the

same way, will greatly improve the prospects of gaining a thorough understanding of the evolution of animal genitalia.

Here, I argue that single species studies, largely using methods that have been successfully applied in other areas of evolutionary biology/ecology where the focus is on causes and effects of intraspecific morphological variation, offer novel possibilities to gain insights into the evolutionary processes responsible for genitalic evolution. Further, I identify the critical predictions that can be used to distinguish between different hypotheses for genitalic evolution.

The discussion below primarily concerns male intromittent genitalia. The reason for this is fivefold (cf. Eberhard, 1985). First, male genitalia seem to be more variable and more elaborated than female genitalia, implying a more rapid evolutionary divergence of male genitalia compared to female genitalia. Second, it is typically easier to measure/quantify morphological variation in male genitalia, since it is composed by identifiable morphological structures to a larger extent (e.g. sclerotized parts in invertebrates). Third, female genitalia are, for these reasons, less often described in the literature. Fourth, we have a comparatively good understanding of the evolution of male non-intromittent genital traits, such as various types of genital claspers (e.g. Thornhill, 1984; Arnqvist, 1989; Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Sakaluk et al., 1995). Fifth, some of the suggested evolutionary mechanisms apply, for theoretical reasons, to selection on males only. However, there is undoubtedly much to learn from including, or even focusing on, female genitalia in particular cases (Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Rice, 1996; see also below).

THE HYPOTHESES

Three main hypotheses can be considered as offering general, and more or less plausible, scenarios for the evolutionary processes responsible for genitalic evolution (see Eberhard, 1985; for a review of several different hypotheses). These are (1) the lock-and-key hypothesis, (2) the pleiotropy hypothesis and (3) the sexual selection hypothesis.

The lock-and-key hypothesis is deeply rooted among many biologists: it was originally proposed in the pre-Darwinian era (Dufour, 1844), and has long been considered a valid explanation for genitalic evolution. In short, this hypothesis holds that species specific genitalia evolve via selection for pre-insemination reproductive isolation (i.e. avoidance of hybridization), so that male genitalia evolve to be species specific, invariant and unique (the key) in order to fit appropriately in female genitalia (the lock). Despite its intuitive appeal and the widespread and long-standing consent to this hypothesis, recent comparative studies of genitalic diversification have failed to conform with the predictions of the lock-and-key hypothesis, and it has been considered a less-plausible hypothesis on these grounds (see Scudder, 1971; Eberhard, 1985; Shapiro & Porter, 1989; for reviews). Also, the underlying assumption of general hybrid inferiority is currently being questioned (see Arnold & Hodges, 1995; for a review).

Mayr (1963) concluded that differences in genitalic morphology appear to play a very minor role, at best, in premating mechanical isolation. Instead, he suggested that variation in genitalic morphology is largely selectively neutral. Under the pleiotropy hypothesis, genitalic evolution is an indirect result of evolution of genetically correlated characters, via accumulated pleiotropic effects of genes that code

for both genitalic and general morphology. Pleiotropic effects on genitalic morphology (or analogous traits, e.g. pedipalps in spiders) are not selected against since genitalic variation is assumed to be neutral, in contrast to most other morphological traits, thus allowing rapid, but arbitrary, genitalic evolution.

Since genitalia are so obviously involved in reproductive events, sexual selection may be responsible for genitalic evolution and diversification. There are three suggestions of how genitalia may evolve via sexual selection. (1) Eberhard (1985) suggested that sexual selection by cryptic female choice (Thornhill, 1983; Eberhard, 1994, 1996) is responsible for genitalic evolution. According to the cryptic female choice hypothesis, male genitalia function as internal, tactile courtship devices that stimulate/titillate multiply-mated females to selectively use sperm from males with superior stimulatory capabilities (i.e. genitalic morphology), over that of others, to fertilize their eggs. While non-random fertilization success among males has been documented in some species (Watson, 1991a, b; LaMunyon & Eisner, 1993; Dickinson, 1996), this has never been unambiguously related either to female sperm use or to male genitalic morphology. (2) It is known that conflicts between the sexes over control of reproductive decisions may drive coevolution of male and female sexual traits. There is empirical evidence in insects showing that conflicts over mating decisions can lead to the evolution of non-intromittent genital claspers in males and female counteradaptations to these (e.g. Thornhill, 1984; Arnqvist, 1989; Arnqvist & Rowe, 1995; Sakaluk et al., 1995). The sexual conflict hypothesis, however, can be expanded and generalized to include male intromittent non-clasping genitalia (Lloyd, 1979; Alexander et al., 1996). According to this scenario, genitalic evolution is a result of sexual conflict over control of fertilization decisions (as opposed to mating decisions). Intromittent male genitalia may function to manipulate female internal sperm use, to induce the female to use more of a particular male's sperm to fertilize her eggs even if this is counter to her own interests. (3) Male genitalia may also become elaborated as a result of sexual selection by sperm competition, so that male genitalia evolve to be efficient at displacing or dislocating sperm from previous males within the female reproductive tract or to induce nonreceptivity in females (Smith, 1984). There is evidence for a sperm removal function of male intromittent organs in some insects (Waage, 1979, 1984; Smith, 1984; Siva-Jothy & Tsubaki, 1989; Birkhead & Hunter, 1990).

A SINGLE SPECIES RESEARCH PROGRAM

Previous studies of genitalic evolution have primarily been based on various types of comparative data (Scudder, 1971; Eberhard, 1985, 1990, 1993a; Shapiro & Porter, 1989), and the relatively few single species studies available are largely restricted to functional morphology (e.g. Heming-Van Battum & Heming, 1989; Bao & Robinson, 1990; Eberhard, 1992, 1993b, c; Huber, 1993, 1994). This is partly due to the fact that most data have been gathered in a taxonomic or systematic framework. As a matter of fact, very few explicit tests of hypotheses have been carried out at all, and these have been based on various comparisons between closely related taxa (e.g. Porter & Shapiro, 1990; Tadler, 1993). Also, the tests so far suggested for discriminating between different hypotheses are based either on functional morphology of genitalia or on comparative data (Eberhard, 1985; Shapiro

Table 1. The main hypotheses for the evolution of male genitalia, and their testable predictions and assumptions

Prediction	Lock-and-key	Pleiotropy	Sexual selection
Male fitness component affected Type/form of selection	Mating success ^b	None ^a	Fertilization success
	Stabilizing	None ^a	Directional
Degree of genotypic variability of genitalia Condition dependent expression	Low	High	High
	Weak	Strong	b
5. Degree of phenotypic variability of genitalia	Very low	High	High
6. Genetic correlation between genitalia and	No	Yes	b
'functional' traits 7. Assortative mating by genitalic traits	Yes	No ^a	No

^a True only for studies where multiple traits are analysed simultaneously. Indirect selection on genitalic morphology may occur via selection on correlated characters.

b See text.

& Porter, 1989). In contrast, I suggest that a research program similar to that which has so successfully been adapted to the study of other domains of evolutionary biology (e.g. evolution of life histories, behavioral ecology, sexual selection) be applied to the study of genital evolution. The different hypotheses of genital evolution all make numerous predictions about occurrence of selection, patterns of morphological variation and inheritance of morphological traits in single species. Thus, a research program consisting of in-depth studies of intraspecific variation in genital morphology, using a multitude of methods, has the potential of illuminating the processes of genitalic evolution. However, since this program focuses on current evolutionary processes rather than the results of past evolutionary events, it should be viewed as a necessary complement, rather as an alternative, to other approaches. In other words, the program is primarily concerned with the maintenance of genitalic elaboration, which does not necessarily account for the origin of these traits (Johnstone, 1995). Thus, I believe that a more diversified view, where the research program outlined here is linked with comparative and historical studies as well as with those of functional morphology, will prove to be the most fruitful path to a thorough and complete understanding of genitalic evolution.

In single-species studies, five major methodological pathways may be exploited. First, measurements of phenotypic selection on genitalic traits should be carried out in natural populations. This is important, since the different hypotheses make different predictions about the occurrence and type of selection occurring on genitalic traits (Table 1). Multivariate methods of measuring selection (e.g. Lande & Arnold, 1983; Arnold & Wade, 1984a, b; Manly, 1985; Endler, 1986; Crespi & Bookstein, 1989) should be used, since it is critical to distinguish between direct and indirect selection on genitalic traits.

Second, the different hypotheses make different predictions about which fitness components should be affected by genitalic morphology. Specifically, provided that genital morphology influences male reproductive success, it is critical to distinguish between effects due to mating success versus fertilization success in species where females mates multiply. Thus, selection on males should be partitioned into components or episodes (e.g. survival, mating success or number of achieved inseminations, fertilization success and offspring viability/performance). Again, it is important to include multiple traits in the analysis, to enable a distinction between direct and indirect selection on genitalic traits (e.g. Arnold & Wade, 1984a, b).

Third, since different degrees of phenotypic variability in genitalic versus general morphological traits are expected under various hypotheses, thorough biometric studies are needed. Based on our current state of knowledge, it is not even possible to assess whether genitalic traits are more or less variable than other traits (Eberhard, 1993a). Recent methodological developments in biometrics, both in terms of increasing measurement accuracy and in terms of statistical methods of processing and summarizing complex morphometric variation, have opened up new possibilities along these lines (Bookstein, 1989, 1991; Rohlf & Marcus, 1993; Liu *et al.*, 1996). The methodological problems, which have previously partly obstructed detailed morphometric studies of genitalia, are hence greatly reduced. Still, the importance of assessing measurement error in morphometric studies cannot be underestimated, by calculating the repeatability of one's measures (Lessels & Boag, 1987).

Fourth, quantitative genetic studies are needed to determine the patterns of inheritance of genitalic traits. While a few studies of closely related species show that genitalic traits are polygenic (Coyne, 1983, 1985; Coyne & Kreitman, 1986; Porter & Shapiro, 1990; Liu et al., 1996), I am unaware of any studies addressing the level of genetic variation in genitalic morphology in natural populations, or whether genes coding for genitalia have pleiotropic effects. The contending hypotheses make relatively hard predictions about the pattern of inheritance of genitalia, so quantitative genetic data would be very illuminating (Falconer, 1989). In particular, the degree of additive genetic variance of genitalic traits should be assessed, and the degree of genetic correlation between genitalic and general morphology estimated.

Fifth, various hypothesis make different predictions about the degree of canalization/plasticity of the phenotypic expression of genitalic traits. Thus, it is important to determine to which degree genitalic morphology is condition dependent relative to other traits (Andersson, 1982, 1994; Nur & Hasson, 1984; Grafen, 1990a, b; Price, Schluter & Heckman, 1993; Johnstone, 1995). This could be assessed in controlled laboratory rearing experiments, allowing estimations of the relative contributions of genetic factors versus various conditional factors (e.g. food availability, parasite load) to phenotypic variance in morphology. An unbiased evaluation of the degree of condition dependence in phenotypic expression of sexual traits actually requires experimental manipulation of environmental conditions (biotic and/or abiotic) (see Johnstone, 1995; for a review).

Finally, morphological traits to include in the analysis have to be chosen carefully. Genital traits which have evolved rapidly (species specific traits), and hence are presumably the targets of selection, should obviously be included. It is critical, for several reasons, not to restrict studies to include genitalic traits only. Results on genitalic traits will have to be related to corresponding results on general morphological traits. Traits which are known, or can be assumed, to be functionally important (e.g. body size, length of wings and appendages) should be included, as well as some general traits which are directly comparable with genitalia in absolute size, and thus presumably in their measurement error (for example, measurements of eyes or mouthparts in arthropods). Further, one particularly interesting aspect of morphology to include would be fluctuating asymmetry. Fluctuating asymmetries in bilaterally symmetrical traits result from the inability of individuals to undergo identical development on both sides of the body, and is believed to reflect the more general inability of individuals to cope with environmental stress. Thus, fluctuating asymmetry may be an especially revealing indicator of individual condition/quality and has recently received much attention in the study of sexual selection (Møller &

Pomiankowski, 1993; Watson & Thornhill, 1994; Swaddle, Witter & Cuthill, 1994). The degree of fluctuating asymmetry in genitalia may, for example, be informative of the relative degree of canalization versus condition dependence, or of relative costs of trait expression.

TESTABLE ASSUMPTIONS AND PREDICTIONS

Recent reviews have concluded that the interspecific pattern of genitalic divergence fits poorly with the classical theories of genitalic evolution, i.e. the lock-and-key and pleiotropism hypotheses (Eberhard, 1985, 1990; Shapiro & Porter 1989). Based on this lack of general agreement, Eberhard (1985) suggested that genitalia have diversified under sexual selection. Below, I show how results from studies such as those outlined above could be used to distinguish between the different hypotheses, by identifying critical assumptions and predictions of the various hypotheses. They are numbered according to the sequence shown in Table 1.

The lock-and-key hypothesis

- (1) Under this hypothesis, male genitalia are selected to correspond closely with female genitalic morphology. If the fit is poor, genitalic coupling and/or insemination is rendered more difficult, less likely or even impossible. Thus, sexual selection on genitalic traits is predicted, which should be manifested as a relationship between male genitalic morphology and the number of achieved copulations/inseminations (i.e. male mating success).
- (2) Optimal male genitalic morphology in a given population will, in general, be the one that most closely corresponds to the average female genitalic conformation. Since all potential deviations from this optimal male genitalic morphology are as likely to decrease the fit with female genitalia, sexual selection should generally be stabilizing rather than directional (non-linear rather than linear) (Alexander *et al.*, 1996). A possible exception could be relatively brief periods of directional selection in sympatric populations that undergo interspecific divergence.
- (3) Due to consistent stabilizing/non-linear selection on genitalia, the degree of genetic variance for genitalic traits should be low (cf. Pomiankowski & Møller, 1995). Thus, genitalia are expected to exhibit insignificant or low degrees of additive genetic variance relative to many other traits.
- (4) Due to the critical importance of having the 'right' key, development of genitalia should evolve to be highly canalized, so that fitting genitalia are produced in spite of perturbations and stress that might occur during ontogeny (Alexander *et al.*, 1996). Thus, in direct assessments, genitalic traits should not be condition dependent in their expression. As a result of this, any morphological variation in genitalic traits should also be relatively independent (e.g. low phenotypic correlations) of typical condition dependent traits, such as body size.
- (5) As a result of (3) and (4) above, genitalic traits should exhibit low degrees of phenotypic variation within populations.
- (6) Because of (3) and (4) above, genitalic morphology should not be genetically correlated with other morphological traits.

(7) Considering the close 'fit' between male and female genitalia assumed under the lock-and-key hypothesis, populations should exhibit positive assortative mating at least by certain genitalic traits (true assortment, sensu Arnqvist et al., 1996), to the extent that there is measurable morphological variation in male and female genitalia.

The pleiotropism hypothesis

- (1) Under this hypothesis, male genitalic morphology should not correlate directly with any fitness components, i.e. there should be no direct phenotypic selection on genitalia. However, this is true only for studies where multiple traits are considered simultaneously. If traits that are genetically correlated with genitalia are also phenotypically correlated, the pleiotropism hypothesis actually predicts indirect selection on genitalia which is caused by fitness effects of functional traits that are phenotypically correlated with genitalic morphology. In other words, non-zero selection on genitalia can be accommodated or even predicted for univariate estimates of selection (selection differentials), but not for multivariate estimates including the true targets of selection (selection gradients).
- (2) No direct selection is expected, and the predicted indirect selection could assume any form.
- (3) Since genital variation is essentially neutral, genetic variation should be relatively high compared to other traits, or at the very least of similar magnitude.
- (4) Due to the basic assumption of genotypic correlations between genitalia and other traits, and since the hypothesized neutrality of genital variation *per se* implies weak or no selection for canalization, the pleiotropism hypothesis predict a fairly strong condition dependency in expression of genitalic traits. Thus, we also expect morphological variation in genitalic traits to be phenotypically correlated with many other traits.
- (5) Due to the above, genitalic traits should exhibit a phenotypic variability comparable to, or even larger than, that of other similar sized traits.
- (6) Under this hypothesis, genitalia evolve through indirect selection on genetically correlated characters. Thus, non-zero genetic correlations between genital morphology and functional general morphological traits is a key assumption of the hypothesis. This may be especially applicable for genital and general traits which have diverged relative to other closely related species (species specific traits).
- (7) Variation in genitalic morphology is essentially non-functional, so no assortative mating between male and female genitalic conformation is expected.

The sexual selection hypothesis

(1) Under this hypothesis, variation in male intromittent genitalic traits is predicted to be related to male fertilization success. This could be due to female cryptic choice based on male genitalia, or to variation in either male ability to control/coerce female sperm use or to compete with sperm from other males (see Discussion). Irrespective of which mechanism is operating, non-random fertilization success among males is expected. Such non-random fertilization success could be brought about by a variety of factors, not only female internal sperm use and differential sperm mortality, but also factors such as differential female oviposition/remating

behaviour or differential female reproductive investment (Eberhard, 1996). In either case, sexual selection is predicted, which should be manifested as a relationship between male genitalic morphology and the number of fertilized eggs when mated to multiply mated females (male fertilization success rather than mating/insemination success).

- (2) Sexual selection is typically directional in form (Andersson, 1994; Pomiankowski & Møller, 1995; Andersson & Iwasa, 1996). This should be true for any genital variation that is related to fertilization success as well: males with extreme, rather than intermediate, genital configuration (and thus stimulatory/coercive/competitive ability) should be most successful (Alexander *et al.*, 1996). Thus, sexual selection should be directional.
- (3) For traits under directional selection, genetic variation should in theory be exhausted (cf. Andersson, 1994). However, a multitude of factors may alter this expectation by maintaining variation in face of selection, and recent reviews of the amount of genetic variation in sexually selected traits have revealed high or intermediate degrees of genetic variation for such traits (e.g. Pomiankowski & Møller, 1995). Thus, it is difficult to make conclusive predictions for data from single experiments, and the expectations also depend on the type of sexual selection, but an overall expectation would be that genitalic traits would exhibit significant and fairly high levels of additive genetic variance compared to other traits.
- (4) Depending on which type of sexual selection is operating, phenotypic expression of genitalia may or may not evolve to be condition dependent (Andersson, 1994; Johnstone, 1995).
- (5) Traits under sexual selection typically exhibit relatively high phenotypic variance (Andersson, 1994; Pomiankowski & Møller, 1995). There is no reason why this should not be true for genitalic traits as well.
- (6) Whether genitalic traits should evolve to be genetically correlated with other morphological traits in males depends critically on the type of sexual selection involved, so no clear general predictions can be made (Andersson, 1994).
- (7) Since genitalic morphology does not affect the probability of pairing under this hypothesis, no positive assortative mating by genitalic conformation is expected.

Taken together, the different hypotheses for the evolution of animal genitalia make a number of unique predictions with regards to the expected patterns of selection and trait variation. However, some predictions are clearly 'harder' than others. Predictions 1, 2, 6 and 7 above are comparatively straightforward and thus particularly useful. Predictions 3–5 are all based on relative amounts of trait variation found in genitalic traits compared to general traits. These predictions are all 'softer', in the sense that they alone provide less conclusive evidence for or against different hypotheses. They are, nevertheless, informative and important, and comparisons between genital and other types of traits should greatly facilitate interpretation of empirical results of this type.

DISCUSSION

Two within-species patterns of genital morphology have previously been held as being 'general' (1) size of genitalia does not correlate with body size and (2) genitalic traits are less phenotypically variable than 'other traits'. However, these beliefs are

deeply rooted in old confounding assumptions of the lock-and-key hypothesis, and factual assessments of these patterns are very rare. The highly limited amount of data that is available, actually show that neither of these patterns are generally present (Kunze, 1959; Coyne, 1983; Eberhard, 1985, 1993a; Porter & Shapiro, 1990; Goulson, 1993; Liu *et al.*, 1996).

Single species studies have typically been concerned with typological descriptions of the functional morphology of genitalia, and very few have given intraspecific variation in genitalia and its potential causes and effects any attention at all. Goulson (1993) found large phenotypic variation in male genitalia of the butterfly *Maniola jurtina*, but failed to find any effect of genitalic morphology on male mating success in a natural population. Moreover, genital size was tightly correlated with body size. Similarly, Kunze (1959) found large intraspecific variation in male genitalia in the ciccadelid *Euscelis plebejus*, but failed to find any relationship between genital morphology and successful copulations. Sengün (1944) went one step further, when he experimentally altered male genital morphology in silkworms, *Bombyx mori*, and found that this did not prevent successful copulations.

These intraspecific studies are at least in tentative agreement with the conclusions of comparative studies: that the 'classical' lock-and-key hypothesis is a less plausible explanation for genitalic evolution (Eberhard, 1985; Shapiro & Porter, 1989). However, knowledge of current selection on genitalic traits, patterns and causes of morphometric variation of genitalia, and an understanding of the mechanisms involved are necessary to enable a future resolution of the evolutionary problem that animal genitalia constitute. It is clear that we need thorough single species studies to enable a future synthesis of the causes of the evolution of animal genitalia; the main hypotheses make numerous more or less exclusive predictions for several different types of data.

Sexual selection

As mentioned above, there are three different ways in which sexual selection could be responsible for genitalic evolution. All take their starting point in non-random fertilization success in males. They differ only by which mechanism that is hypothesized to cause this variation. Eberhard's (1985, 1990, 1993a, 1996) cryptic female choice hypothesis suggests that variation in fertilization success among males is caused by adaptive female manipulation of sperm inside their reproductive tract, and that variance in male stimulatory ability (caused by variance in genital morphology) is responsible for this. The sexual conflict scenario, on the other hand, suggests that phenotypic variation in intromittent male genitalia is related to their ability to control/coerce female internal sperm use, often in conflict with female interests (Lloyd, 1979; Alexander *et al.*, 1996). The sperm competition hypothesis, finally, suggests that variation in male genitalia is related to fertilization success because of different abilities to compete with sperm of other males. These different routes to non-random fertilization success may also certainly grade into one another (see below).

Recent findings of non-random male fertilization success in multiply mated females are in support of the most basic assumption of the sexual selection hypotheses: there appear to be intricate mechanisms by which sperm of some males are favoured over those of others (Eberhard, 1991, 1994, 1996; Otronen & Siva-Jothy, 1991; Watson,

1991a, b; LaMunyon & Eisner, 1993; Ward, 1993; Eberhard & Cordero, 1995; Dickinson, 1996). Unfortunately, non-random fertilization success has not been unambiguously related to male genital morphology in any species. To establish such a relationship would be the first necessary step in a test of the sexual selection hypothesis (Table 1). However, this will not suffice in order to distinguish between the different sexual selection hypotheses: it will also be absolutely crucial to determine the mechanism by which such non-random male fertilization success is brought about (Alexander et al., 1996). This will undoubtedly prove extremely difficult. The question of why sperm of males with certain genitalia are more successful in fertilizing eggs than those of others will have to be addressed. Can non-random fertilization success among males based on their genitalic morphology be unambiguously assigned to active female control of sperm use (cryptic female choice), or is such a pattern caused by differing male ability to coerce their reproductive/fertilization interests on females (sexual conflict)? Determinations of male and female interests as well as of which sex controls sperm use, or rather to which degree the sexes control fertilization events, will be necessary (cf. Walker, 1980; Alexander et al., 1996). Further, such a pattern would arise if genitalic variation among males affected, directly or indirectly, their ability to compete with sperm of other males (sperm competition). Covariation between genital morphology and, for example, sperm displacement/dislocation ability (Waage, 1979, 1984), sperm quality or sperm quantity would in itself cause sexual selection on male genitalia. Finally, to further complicate matters, these three different mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and could grade into one another. For example, distinguishing between male genital stimulation of female sperm use on one hand, and male coercion on the other, will not be relevant if the reproductive interests of the sexes coincide. Also, irrespective of whether male sperm compete directly via genital morphology, or whether males compete only indirectly via their ability to stimulate/coerce female sperm use, there will always be an element of sperm competition. Clearly, innovative experimental studies, using novel methods such as radioactive labelling of sperm and genetic paternity determination of offspring, linking male genitalic morphology to the mechanisms of female sperm use, are required.

Female choice and genitalia

As mentioned above, there is currently little direct empirical support for the hypothesis that animal genitalia evolve via cryptic female choice. However, if cryptic female choice proves to be generally responsible for genitalic evolution, intromittent genitalia may offer a new and exciting adaptational domain in which to test and assess the relative importance of various processes of female choice for the evolution of sexually dimorphic traits (Eberhard, 1985, 1990, 1993a), and to possibly resolve the controversy between various models of female choice (notably the good-genes, Fisherian runaway and sensory exploitation models) (Ryan, 1990; Ryan & Rand, 1990; Kirkpatrick & Ryan, 1991; Eberhard, 1993a; Andersson, 1994; Johnstone, 1995). The extent to which the evolutionary processes that are responsible for genitalic evolution will prove to be generalizable to other sexual traits is questionable at this point, however. One difference between genital and classic dimorphic traits (such as coloration) could be a relatively low survival cost of genitalic elaboration, as suggested by Eberhard (1993a). This, however, has not yet been empirically

demonstrated. Actually, there are good grounds to assume that genitalia are indeed costly in some sense: any trait evolving by directional sexual selection (especially by a Fisherian run-away scenario) will eventually be brought to a halt by antagonistic/conflicting selection.

Distinguishing between different hypotheses of female choice has proven extremely difficult (Andersson, 1994; Johnstone, 1995; Andersson & Iwasa, 1996), and animal genitalia provides no exception to this empirical dilemma. Studies focusing on male genitalia alone, such as studies of developmental or other costs of genitalic elaboration and condition dependence (Andersson, 1982, 1994; Nur & Hasson, 1984; Grafen, 1990a, b; Price et al., 1993; Arnqvist, 1994; Johnstone, 1995), phenotypic correlations between male genitalia and offspring growth/survival (Andersson, 1994; Kirkpatrick & Ryan, 1991) and genetic correlations between male genitalia and female genitalia/ sperm use (Kirkpatrick & Ryan, 1991; Andersson, 1994; Breden, Gerhardt & Butlin, 1994; Pomiankowski & Sheridan, 1994; Bakker & Pomiankowski, 1995), would be illuminating. However, such studies are clearly not sufficient to unambiguously distinguish among female choice hypotheses (Andersson & Iwasa, 1996). Additional insight would be gained from studies on the evolution of the presumed mechanism of female preference itself (Kirkpatrick, 1987; Kirkpatrick & Ryan, 1991; Johnstone, 1995): cryptic female choice. This, again, calls for studies that not only demonstrate how non-random fertilization success among males is related to their genital morphology (i.e. demonstrate sexual selection on genitalia), but which focus on the mechanisms by which such a pattern is brought about (see above). If sexual selection proves to be acting on genitalic traits, such studies will be key to our understanding of which mode of sexual selection is operating and how non-random fertilization success among males has evolved.

To conclude, species specificity and rapid evolution of genitalia is one of the most striking patterns of morphological divergence in animals, and at the same time one of the least understood (Eberhard, 1985; Edwards, 1993). There are still very few direct empirical data on the evolutionary patterns and processes of genitalic evolution. Thorough intra-specific studies are badly needed, since such studies are necessary for a conclusive discrimination between the different main hypotheses for genitalic evolution.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This contribution benefited greatly from discussions with R. Thornhill and P. Watson. I also wish to thank L. Rowe and two anonymous referees for constructive comments on previous drafts of this paper. This study was made possible by financial support from The Swedish Natural Science Research Council, The Crafoord Foundation (The Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences), The Fulbright Commission and The Swedish Institute. Logistic support was received from the Department of Biology, University of New Mexico, which is gratefully acknowledged.

REFERENCES

Alexander RD, Marshall DC, Cooley JR. 1996. Evolutionary perspectives on insect mating. In: Choe, JC, Crespi, BJ, eds. The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (in press).

Andersson M. 1982. Sexual selection, natural selection and quality advertisement. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 17: 375-393.

Andersson M. 1994. Sexual selection. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Andersson M, Iwasa Y. 1996. Sexual selection. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 11: 53-58.

Arnold ML, Hodges SA. 1995. Are natural hybrids fit or unfit relative to their parents? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 10: 67-71.

Arnold SJ, Wade MJ. 1984a. On the mesurement of natural and sexual selection: Theory. Evolution 38: 709–719.
Arnold SJ, Wade MJ. 1984b. On the measurement of natural and sexual selection: Applications. Evolution 38: 720–734.

Arnqvist G. 1989. Sexual selection in water strider: the function, nature of selection and heritability of a male grasping apparatus. *Oikos* **56:** 344–350.

Arnqvist G. 1994. The cost of male secondary sexual traits: developmental constraints during ontogeny in a sexually dimorphic water strider. *American Naturalist* **144:** 119–132.

Arnqvist G, Rowe, L. 1995. Sexual conflict and arms races between the sexes: a morphological adaptation for control of mating in a female insect. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 261: 123–127.

Arnqvist G, Rowe L, Krupa J, Sih A. 1996. Assortative mating by size: a meta-analysis of mating patterns in water striders. *Evolutionary Ecology* (in press).

Bakker TCM, Pomiankowski A. 1995. The genetic basis of female mate preferences. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 8: 129–171.

Bao N, Robinsson WH. 1990. Morphology and mating configuration of genitalia of the oriental cockroach, Blatta orientalis L. (Blattodea: Blattidae). Proceedings of the Entomological Society of Washington 92: 416–421.

Birkhead TR, Hunter FM. 1990. Mechanisms of sperm competition. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 5: 48-52.

Bookstein FL. 1989. Principal warps: think-plate splines and the decomposition of deformations. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence* **11:** 567–585.

Bookstein FL. 1991. Morphometric tools for landmark data. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bradbury JW, Andersson MB (eds). 1987. Sexual selection: testing the alternatives. Chichester: John Wiley.

Breden F, Gerhardt HC, Butlin RK. 1994. Female choice and genetic correlations. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9: 343.

Civetta A, Singh RS. 1996. High divergence of reproductive tract proteins and their association with postzygotic reproductive isolation in *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Drosophila virilis* group species. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* (in press).

Coyne JA. 1983. Genetic basis of differences in genital morphology among three sibling species of *Drosophila*. Evolution 37: 1101–1118.

Coyne JA. 1985. Genetic studies of three sibling species of Drosophila with relationship to theories of speciation. Genetetic Research 46: 169–192.

Coyne JA, Kreitman M. 1986. Evolutionary genetics of two sibling species, Drosophila simulans and D. sechellia. Evolution 40: 673–691.

Crespi BJ, Bookstein FL. 1989. A path-analytic model for the measurement of selection on morphology. Evolution 43: 18–28.

Darwin C. 1871. The descent of man, and selection in relation to sex. London: Murray.

Dickinson JL. 1996. Multiple mating, sperm competition and cryptic female choice in the leaf beetles (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). In: Choe, JC, Crespi, BJ, eds. The Evolution of Mating Systems in Insects and Arachnids. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (in press).

Dufour L. 1844. Anatomie générale des Diptères. Annuaire de Science Naturelle 1: 244-264.

Eberhard WG. 1985. Sexual selection and the evolution of animal genitalia. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Eberhard WG. 1990. Animal genitalia and female choice. American Scientist 78: 134-141.

Eberhard WG. 1991. Copulatory courtship and cryptic female choice in insects. Biological Review 66: 1-31.

Eberhard WG. 1992. Species isolation, genital mechanisms, and the evolution of species-specific genitalia in three species of *Macrodactylus* beetles (Coleoptera, Scarabeidae, Melolonthinae). *Evolution* 46: 1774–1783.

Eberhard WG. 1993a. Evaluating models of sexual selection: genitalia as a test case. *American Naturalist* 142: 564–571.

Eberhard WG. 1993b. Copulatory courtship and morphology of genitalic coupling in seven *Phyllophaga* species (Coleoptera: Melolonthidae). *Journal of Natural History* **27:** 683–717.

Eberhard WG. 1993c. Copulatory courtship and genital mechanisms of three species of *Macrodactylus* (Coleoptera Scarabaeidae Melolonthinae). *Ethology, Ecology and Evolution.* **5:** 19–63.

Eberhard WG. 1994. Evidence for widespread courtship during copulation in 131 species of insects and spiders, and implications for cryptic female choice. *Evolution* **48:** 711–733.

Eberhard WG. 1996. Female control: sexual selection by cryptic female choice. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press. **Eberhard WG, Cordero C. 1995.** Sexual selection by cryptic female choice on male seminal products—a new bridge between sexual selection and reproductive physiology. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **10:** 493–496.

Edwards R. 1993. Entomological and mammalogical perspectives on genital differentiation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **8:** 406–409.

Endler JA. 1986. Natural selection in the wild. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Falconer DS. 1989. Introduction to quantitative genetics. New York: John Wiley.

Goulson D. 1993. Variation in the genitalia of the butterfly Maniola jurtina (Lepidoptera: Satyrinae). Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society 107:65-71.

Grafen A. 1990a. Sexual selection unhandicapped by the Fisher process. Journal of Theoretical Biology 144: 473–516. Grafen A. 1990b. Biological signals as handicaps. Journal of Theoretical Biology 144: 517–546.

Harcourt AH, Harvey PH, Larson SG, Short RV. 1981. Testis weight, body weight and breeding system in primates. Nature 293: 55-57.

Heming-van Battum KE, Heming BS. 1989. Structure, function and evolutionary significance of the reproductive system in males of *Hebrus ruficeps* and *H. pusillus. Journal of Morphology* **202:** 281–323.

Huber BA. 1993. Genital mechanics and sexual selection in the spider Nesticus cellulanus (Araneae: Nesticidae). Canadian Journal of Zoology 71: 2437–2447.

Huber BA. 1994. Genital morphology, copulatory mechanism and reproductive biology in Psilochorus simoni (Berland 1911) (Pholcidae; Araneae). Netherlands Journal of Zoology 44: 85–99.

Jamieson, BGM. 1987. The ultrastructure and phylogeny of insect spermatozoa. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
Johnstone RA. 1995. Sexual selection, honest advertisement and the handicap principle: reviewing the evidence.
Biological Reviews 70: 1–65.

Joly D, Bressac C, Devaux J, Lachaise D. 1991. Sperm length diversity in the Drosophilidae. DIS 70: 104–108.
Kirkpatrick M. 1987. The evolutionary forces acting on female mating preferences in polygynous animals. In:
Bradbury JW, Andersson MB, eds. Sexual selection: testing the alternatives. Chichester: John Wiley, 67–82.

Kirkpatrick M, Ryan MJ. 1991. The evolution of mating preferences and the paradox of the lek. *Nature* 350: 33–38.

Kunze L. 1959. Die functionsanatomischen Grundlagen der Kopulation Zwerzikaden, untersuch an *Euscelis plebejus* (Fall.) und einigen Typhlocybinen. *Deutsche Entomologische Zeitschrift* **6:** 322–386.

LaMunyon CW, Eisner T. 1993. Postcopulatory sexual selection in an arctiid moth (Utetheisa ornatrix). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 90: 4689–4692.

Lande R, Arnold SJ. 1983. The measurement of selection on correlated characters. Evolution 37: 1210–1226.

Lessels CM, Boag PT. 1987. Unrepeatable repeatabilities: a common mistake. The Auk 104: 116-121.

Liu J, Mercer JM, Stam LF, Gibson GC, Zeng Z-B, Laurie CC. 1996. Genetic analysis of a morphological shape difference in the male genitalia of *Drosophila simulans* and *D. mauritiana. Genetics* 142: 1129–1145.

Lloyd JE. 1979. Mating behavior and natural selection. Florida Entomologist 62: 17-34.

Mahowald AP, Kambysellis MP. 1980. Oogenesis. In: Ashburner M, Wright TRF, eds. The genetics and biology of Drosophila. London: Academic Press, 2nd vol., 141–224.

Manly BF. 1985. The statistics of natural selection on animal populations. New York: Chapman and Hall.

Mayr E. 1963. Animal species and evolution. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Møller AP, Pomiankowski A. 1993. Fluctuating asymmetry and sexual selection. Genetica 89: 267-279.

Nur N, Hasson O. 1984. Phenotypic plasticity and the handicap principle. Journal of Theoretical Biology 110: 275–297.

Otronen M, Siva-Jothy MT. 1991. The effect of post-copulatory male behaviour on ejaculate distribution within the female sperm storage organs of the fly *Dryomyza anilis* (Dryomyzidae). *Behavioural Ecology* 5: 51–56.

Pitnick S, Markow TA. 1994. Male gametic strategies: sperm size, testis size, and the allocation of ejaculate among successive mates by the sperm-limited fly *Drosophila pachea* and its relatives. *American Naturalist* 143: 785–819.

Pomiankowski A, Sheridan L. 1994. Linked sexiness and choosiness. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9: 242–244. Pomiankowski A, Møller AP. 1995. A resolution of the lek paradox. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 260. 21, 20

Porter AH, Shapiro AM. 1990. Lock-and-key hypothesis: lack of mechanical isolation in a butterfly (Lepidoptera: Pieridae) hybrid zone. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 83: 107–114.

Price T, Schluter D, Heckman NE. 1993. Sexual selection when the female directly benefits. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 48: 187–211.

Rice, WR. 1996. Sexually antagonistic male adaptation triggered by experimental arrest of female evolution. *Nature* 381: 232–234

Rohlf FJ, Marcus LF. 1993. A revolution in morphometrics. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 8: 129-132.

Ryan MJ. 1990. Sexual selection, sensory systems and sensory exploitation. Oxford Surveys in Evolutionary Biology 7: 157–195.

Ryan MJ, Rand AS. 1990. The sensory basis of sexual selection for complex calls in the túngara frog, *Physalaemus pustulosus* (sexual selection for sensory exploitation). *Evolution* 44: 305–314.

Sakaluk SK, Bangert PJ, Eggert A-K, Gack C, Swanson LV. 1995. The gin trap as a device facilitating coercive mating in sagebrush crickets. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 261: 65–71.

Scudder GGE. 1971. Comparative morphology of insect genitalia. Annual Review of Entomology 16: 379-406.

Sengün A. 1944. Experimente zur sexuell-mechanischen Isolation. Revue de Faculté de Science Istanbul Series B 9: 239–253.

Shapiro AM, Porter AH. 1989. The lock-and-key hypothesis: evolutionary and biosystematic interpretation of insect genitalia. Annual Review of Entomology 34: 231–245.

Siva-Jothy MT, Tsubaki Y. 1989. Variation in copulation duration in Mnais pruinosa Selys (Odonata: Calopterygidae). I. Alternative mate-securing tactics and sperm precedence. Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology 24: 39–45.

Smith RL (ed.). 1984. Sperm competition and the evolution of animal mating systems. Orlando: Academic Press.

Swaddle JP, Witter MS, Cuthill IC. 1994. The analysis of fluctuating asymmetry. Animal Behaviour 48: 986–989.

Tadler A. 1993. Genitalia fitting, mating behaviour and possible hybridization in millipedes of the genus Craspedosoma (Diplopoda, Chordeumatida, Craspedosomatidae). Acta Zoologica 74: 215–225.

Thornhill R. 1983. Cryptic female choice and its implications in the scorpionfly *Harpobittacus nigriceps. American Naturalist* **122:** 765–788.

Thornhill R. 1984. Alternative hypotheses for traits believed to have evolved by sperm competition. In: Smith RL, ed. *Sperm competition and the evolution of animal mating systems.* Orlando: Academic Press, 151–178.

Waage JK. 1979. Dual function of the damselfly penis: sperm removal and transfer. Science 203: 916-918.

Waage JK. 1984. Sperm competition and the evolution of Odonate mating systems. In: Smith RL, ed. Sperm competition and the evolution of animal mating systems. Orlando: Academic Press, 251–290.

Walker WF. 1980. Sperm utilization strategies in non-social insects. American Naturalist 115: 780-799.

Ward PI. 1993. Females influence sperm storage and use in the yellow dung fly Scatophaga stercoraria (L.). Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology 32: 313–319.

Warner RR, Robertson DR. 1978. Sexual patterns in the labroid fishes of the Western Carribean. I. The wrasses (Labridae). Smithsonian Contributions in Zoology 254: 1–27.

Watson PJ. 1991a. Multiple paternity as genetic bet-hedging in female Sierra dome spiders, Linyphia litigiosa (Linyphiidae). Animal Behaviour 41: 343–360.

Watson PJ. 1991b. Multiple paternity and first mate sperm precedence in the sierra dome spider, *Linyphia litigiosa* Keyserling (Linyphiidae). *Animal Behaviour* 41: 135–148.

Watson PJ, Thornhill, R. 1994. Fluctuating asymmetry and sexual selection. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9: 21-25.